
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and the environment by providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and recycling services. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA- REVISED
DECEMBER 16, 2021 

On March 12, 2020, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-25-20, which enhances 
State and Local Governments’ ability to respond to COVID-19 Pandemic based on Guidance 
for Gatherings issued by the California Department of Public Health. The Executive Order 
specifically allows local legislative bodies to hold meetings via teleconference and to make 
meetings accessible electronically, in order to protect public health, which was due to end 
on September 30, 2021 (Exec. Ord. N-08-21). However, the Legislature passed AB 361 
which provides local agencies with the ability to meet remotely during proclaimed state 
emergencies under modified Brown Act requirements, similar in many ways to the rules 
and procedures established by the Governor’s previous Executive Orders. - In light of this – 
the December 16, meeting of the LGVSD Board will be held via Zoom electronic meeting*. 
There will be NO physical location of the meeting. Due to the current circumstances, there 
may be limited opportunity to provide verbal comments during the meeting. Persons who 
wish to address the Board for public comment or on an item on the agenda are 
encouraged, but not required, to submit comments in writing to the Board Secretary 
(tlerch@lgvsd.org) by 5:00 pm on Wednesday, December 15, 2021. In addition, Persons 
wishing to address the Board verbally must contact the Board Secretary, by email 
(tlerch@lgvsd.org) and provide their Name; Address; Tel. No.; and the Item they wish to 
address by the same date and time deadline for submission of written comments, as 
indicated above.  Please keep in mind that any public comments must be limited to 3 
minutes due to time constraints.  Any written  comments will be distributed to the LGVSD 
Board before the meeting. 
*Prior to the meeting, participants should download the  Zoom app at:
https://zoom.us/download. 

REMOTE CONFERENCING ONLY 
Join Zoom Meeting online at: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87850750530 

OR 
By teleconference at: +16699009128   Meeting ID: 878 5075 0530 

1



December 16, 2021 Page 2 of 4 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

 

 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION ON THE DISTRICT WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

NOTE:  Final board action may be taken on any matter appearing on agenda 

 

OPEN SESSION: 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 
 
CLOSED SESSION: 
 

2. PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT - INTERIM GENERAL MANAGER: pursuant to subdivision (b)(1) of Government 
Code Section 54957. 

 
3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure 

 to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of Government Code § 54956.9: Two potential cases. 

 
 
OPEN SESSION: 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

 

2. CONSENT CALENDAR: 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for November 18, 2021 

B. Approve the Warrant List for December 16, 2021 

C. Approve Board Compensation for November, 2021 

D. Approve Resolution 2021- 2233 – Remote Meetings  

E. Approve Managers’ and Unrepresented Employee Contracts and Resolution 2021-2234 

 Adopting a Pay Scale 

 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Items B, C, and E. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through E. 

3:35 PM 

 
 

Estimated 
Time 
 

5:05 PM 

 

5:00 PM 

 

4:00 PM 

 

4:05 PM 

 

2



December 16, 2021 Page 3 of 4 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

 

3. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. Acting General Manager’s Report - Verbal 

2. Department Reports – Administration and Engineering - Written 

 
 

4. PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE NO. 188 AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 1 – REGULATING 
SOLID WASTE, RECYCLABLE AND ORGANIC MATERIALS, AND THE COLLECTION, REMOVAL 
AND DISPOSAL THEREOF INCLUDING THE GARBAGE AND REFUSE RATE ADJUSTMENT FOR 
2022  

Board to consider the adoption of Ordinance No. 188 - An Ordinance amending Title 4, Chapter 1 of the 
District Ordinance Code and increasing the garbage and refuse rate by 0.64 %.  Representatives of Marin 
Sanitary Service and R3 Consulting Group will be in attendance to discuss the 2022 Rate Application 
Report. 

. 

5. RECEIVE  AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED IN JUNE 2021 
John Cropper of Cropper Accountancy Corporation will present the results of the Audit of the 

Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2021. 

 
 

6. BROWN AND CALDWELL CONTRACT EXTENSION  
Board to review the Brown and Caldwell contract extension. 
 
 

7. APPROVE RESOLUTION 2021-2235  RECOGNIZING EMPLOYEES 
Board to review Resolution 2021-2235 recognizing District employees for their dedication during the 
COVID-19 Pandemic. 
 
 

8. CREATE BIOSOLIDS AD HOC COMMITTEE 
Board to consider creating a Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee. 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the Board Secretary before the meeting. 
 
 

10. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS: 

1. CLARK  
a. NBWA Board Committee, NBWA Conference Committee,  
2021 Employee Climate Survey Ad Hoc Committee, 
2021 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
2. MURRAY 

a. Marin LAFCO, CASA Energy Committee, 2021 GM Recruitment Ad Hoc Committee, 
 2021 Legal Services Ad Hoc Committee, 2021 Employee Climate Survey Ad Hoc Committee, 
Marin Special Districts Association, Other Reports 

 
 

7:20 PM 

 

6:00  PM 

 

5:15 PM 

 

6:55 PM 

 

7:15 PM 
 

6:15 PM 
 

6:45 PM 
 

7:00 PM 
 

3



December 16, 2021 Page 4 of 4 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

3. SCHRIEBMAN
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek Watershed Council, JPA Local Task Force
NBWA Tech Advisory Committee,  Other Reports 

4. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7,CSRMA, Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE
Engineering Subcommittee, 2021 Legal Services Ad Hoc Committee, 2021 GM Recruitment Ad 

Hoc Committee,Other Reports

11. BOARD REQUESTS:

A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

C. Pending Board Agenda Item Requests

i. ACTION – Measure A Discussion

ii. ACTION – Parlamentary Procedures

iii. ACTION – Recycled Water Signage

iv. ACTION – FutureSense Report Recommendations

12. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

13. ADJOURNMENT

  FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: JANUARY 4, JANUARY 6,  AND JANUARY 20, 2022 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, District Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before December 13, 2021 4:00 p.m., I posted the Agenda for the 
Board Meeting of said Board to be held December 16, 2021  at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: December 13, 2021

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
District Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study session. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting.

AGENDA APPROVED: Crystal J. Yezman, Board President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

7:40 PM 

7:30 PM 

7:35 PM 

4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



Agenda Summary Report    

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2021 

Re: Resolution Ratifying Approved Unrepresented Employee Employment 
Agreements and Approving Revised Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 

Item Type:  Consent X  Action   Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes   No (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
That the Board ratify the Employment Agreements for all Unrepresented Employees and adopt 
the attached Resolution 2021-2234 approving a salary Pay Schedule that will apply to all 
employees, effective July 1, 2021. 

BACKGROUND 
As a result of a two-year successor Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) agreement between 
Operating Engineers Local 3 and the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District the represented salary 
schedule for employee classifications was modified effective July 1, 2021.  A Pay Schedule for 
represented employees was adopted on August 19, 2021. 

The District later approved continuing Employment Agreements with its management and 
unpresented employees.  The pay schedule must be updated to reflect the recently approved 
contract terms for these positions.  Longevity has been included on the salary schedule to clearly 
convey the cost of the longevity program to employees and the public. 

The attached salary schedule, effective July 1, 2021, combines the previously approved 
represented employee’s salary schedule, salary range adjustments for management and 
unpresented employees, and the Civil Engineering Technician and CMMS Technician position 
recently approved. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On December 2, 2021, the Board approved continuing Employment Agreements with 
management and unpresented employees, terms of which require updates to the District Pay 
Schedule. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The fiscal year 2021-22 budget provides for the pay increases that will result if the pay schedule 
is adopted.  

Item Number________2E______ 

27

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


RESOLUTION NO. 2021-2234 
 
 

A RESOLUTION RATIFYING UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE AGREEMENTS AND 
ADOPTING A REVISED PAY SCHEDULE FOR BOTH UNREPRESENTED AND 

REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES OF THE DISTRICT 
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the District adopted the Pay Schedule for represented employees, effective July 1, 

2021, on August 19, 2021 while awaiting completion of management contracts; and 

WHEREAS, the District approved employment agreements with management and unpresented 

employees on December 2, 2021 requiring the Pay Schedule be updated; and 

WHEREAS, the District wishes to have only one published Pay Schedule for management, 

represented, and unrepresented employees; and 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District”) has contracted with CalPERS to 

provide certain retirement benefits to its employees; and  

WHEREAS, the governance of retirement benefits provided to public employees in the state of 

California is governed by California Government Code Title 2, Division 5, Part 3 Public 

Employees’ Retirement System; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Administration of the Public Employees’ Retirement System has 

promulgated regulations to implement requirements of the governing law; and 

WHEREAS, the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System 

Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5) states that  

“(a) For purposes of determining the amount of “compensation earnable” pursuant to 

Government Code Sections 20630, 20636, and 20636.1, payrate shall be limited to the 

amount listed on a pay schedule that meets all of the following requirements: 

(1) Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in 

accordance with requirements of applicable public meeting laws;  

(2) Identifies the position title for every employee position;  

(3) Shows the payrate for each identified position, which may be stated as a 

single amount or as multiple amounts within a range;  

(4) Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is 

hourly, daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually;  

(5) Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and 

available for public review from the employer during normal business hours or 

posted on the employer's internet website;  

28



(6) Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions;  

(7) Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less 

than five years; and  

(8) Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the payrate”. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby ratify the Employment Agreements for its unrepresented employees, which 

list is attached as Exhibit A and is included by reference. 

BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby adopt the revised Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 for all employees, 

which is attached as Exhibit B and is included by reference, in accordance with the 

requirements of the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement 

System Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5). 

BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

does herby approve the  Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management 

and Employee Bargaining Group for the term July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2023, which is attached 

as Exhibit C and is included by reference. 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, at a regular meeting thereof held on December 16, 2021, by the following 

vote of the members thereof: 

 AYES, and in favor thereof, Members: 

 NOES, Members: 

 ABSENT, Members: 

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

 

         ________________________________ 

           Teresa L. Lerch, District Secretary 

           Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPROVED: 

           (seal) 

__________________________________ 

Crystal J. Yezman Board President 

 

29



List of Unpresented Management and Administrative Employment Contracts 

Effective as of July 1, 2021 

Approved December 2, 2021 

 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Schultz 

Administrative Services Manager McDonald 

Collections/Safety/Maintenance Manager Pease 

District Engineer Cortez 

Plant Manager Liebmann 

 

Notes on above Employment Agreements 

Employment Agreements referenced in this resolution and presented to the Board are on file at 

the District office.  

References to functions and duties Exhibit “A” under Section 1 of the employment agreements 

refers to classification descriptions previously approved by the Board of Directors. They are on 

file with the original employment agreements and are available at the District office. 

References to Salary Schedule Exhibit “B” under Section 3 of the employment agreements 

refers to the revised Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 for all employees, which is attached as 

Exhibit B of this resolution. 

References to Benefits Exhibit “C” under Section 5 of the employment agreements refers to the 

Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining 

Group for the term July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2023, which is attached as Exhibit C of this 

resolution. 

30



         
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District EXHIBIT B

Salary Pay Schedule as of July 1, 2021

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Longevity 

3% (2)

Longevity 

3% (3)

Longevity 

2%  (4)

Administrative Assistant 5,895      6,190      6,499      6,824      7,165       7,523          7,749          N/A

Administrative/Financial Specialist 8,126      8,532      8,959      9,407      9,877       N/A N/A N/A

Administrative Services Manager 14,339    15,056    15,809    16,600    17,429     N/A N/A N/A

Assistant Engineer 8,970      9,418      9,889      10,383    10,903     11,448        11,791        N/A

Associate Engineer 10,929    11,475    12,049    12,651    13,284     13,948        14,366        N/A

Civil Engineering Technician  7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       9,167          9,442          N/A

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 13,990    14,689    15,423    16,195    17,004     17,855        18,390        18,758         

Collection System Operator (1) 5,611      5,891      6,186      6,495      6,820       N/A N/A N/A

Collection System Operator I  (1) 5,895      6,190      6,499      6,824      7,165       N/A N/A N/A

Collection System Operator II 6,193      6,503      6,828      7,169      7,528       7,904          8,141          N/A

Collection System Operator III 6,669      7,003      7,353      7,721      8,107       8,512          8,767          N/A

Collection System Operator Lead 7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       9,167          9,442          N/A

CMMS Technician 7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       9,167          9,442          N/A

District Engineer 14,698    15,433    16,204    17,014    17,865     18,758        19,321        19,708         

District Secretary 7,734      8,121      8,527      8,954      9,401       9,871          10,168        N/A

Electrical Instrumentation Technician 7,734      8,121      8,527      8,954      9,401       9,871          10,168        N/A

Environmental Services Director 9,901      10,396    10,916    11,461    12,034     12,636        13,015        N/A

Laboratory Analyst‐in‐Training  (1) 6,836      7,178      7,537      7,914      8,309       N/A N/A N/A

Laboratory Analyst I    (1) 7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       N/A N/A N/A

Laboratory Analyst II 7,928      8,324      8,740      9,177      9,636       10,118        10,422        N/A

Laboratory Analyst III 9,194      9,654      10,136    10,643    11,175     11,734        12,086        N/A

Maintenance Supervisor 10,402    10,922    11,468    12,042    12,644     13,276        13,674        N/A

Plant Manager 14,339    15,056    15,809    16,600    17,429     18,301        18,850        19,227         

Plant Operator‐in‐Training (1) 6,193      6,503      6,828      7,169      7,528       N/A N/A N/A

Plant Operator I   (1) 6,507      6,832      7,174      7,532      7,909       N/A N/A N/A

Plant Operator II 7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       9,167          9,442          N/A

Plant Operator III 7,928      8,324      8,740      9,177      9,636       10,118        10,422        N/A

Plant Operator Lead 8,537      8,964      9,412      9,883      10,377     10,896        11,223        N/A

Plant Operations Supervisor 10,402    10,922    11,468    12,042    12,644     13,276        13,674        N/A

Skilled Maintenance Worker I   (1) 6,193      6,503      6,828      7,169      7,528       N/A N/A N/A

Skilled Maintenance Worker II 7,182      7,541      7,918      8,314      8,730       9,167          9,442          N/A

General Manager *

*The General Manager position is a contract position. The salary was last established by the District Board of Directors on 1/21/2021.  Position is currently vacant.

  How to Use this Pay Scale:  Steps 1 through 5 are the regular levels for all positions.

     (1) Represented employees in entry level classifications and unrepresented employees hired after 7/1/2016 are not eligible for longevity pay.  

     (2) Longevity Pay equal to 5% of salary is given beginning on the 7th year of employment, longevity shown is for employees at top regular step 5.

     (3) Additional Longevity Pay equal to 3% of salary is given beginning on the 11th year of employment, longevity shown is for employees at top regular step 5.

     (4) Additional Longevity Pay equal to 2% of salary is given beginning on the 16th year of employment for management hired prior to 7/1/2016.

Resolution No. 2021‐2234

Adopted _________

21,094

Full Time Positions

Monthly Salary

S:\PAYSCALES\Payscale sheets  by FY\2021-2022\Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2021 revised 12-16-2131



 
In addition to the benefits specifically discussed in the employment contracts, the following benefits 
offered to the members of the OE3 bargaining unit will apply: 
 

Benefits Section 
(in MOU) 

Summary 

Holidays 15.1 11 days per year 
Max Vacation Accrual 15.2 272 hours 
Vacation Time Awarded 15.2 Years 1-3  14 days 
  Years 4 to 10 19 days 
  Years 11 to 15 22 days 
  Years 16+ 24 days 
  A one-time 5-day vacation bonus is given after 20 

years of service 
Vacation Cash-Out Per contract Cash-out 80 hours twice-yearly, with a minimum 

balance remaining of 40 hours 
Administrative Leave Per Contract Exempt Management Employees Only 

Lump sum of 80 hours reset each year on July 1st 
Admin Leave – Safety 
Award 

 4 hours added to leave bi-annually if No Accidents in 
the Plant 

Sick Leave 15.4 Accrue (1) 8-hr day a month – No Cap 
  After 3 Years – If you Resign - 50% Cash Out 
  After 3 Years – If you Retire – 50% Cash Out 50% 

CalPERS Service Credit 
Cell Phone  Per Contract Reimburse for Cell purchase with Cap 
  Reimburse one personal cell line monthly costs  
Auto Allowance Per Contract Allowance Reimbursement or use of District Vehicle 
Technology Per Contract Reimbursed for iPad or Laptop – Limit of $1,347 – 

Administrative Policy A-03. 
Longevity Pay Per Contract Employees Hired prior to 7/1/2016 Only 

After 6 years – 5% 
After 10 years – 3% 
After 15 years – 2% 

Medical Cafeteria Plan 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
 
EE Contribution 

17.1/17.2 PERS Health Plan 
 
Kaiser family rate 
 
Excess monthly cost for plan over Kaiser plan  

Dental 17.3 Annual cap of $3,000 per covered individual after 
applicable co-pay 

Vision 
 
LGVSD Contribution 
EE Contribution 

17.4 VSP 
 
50% of the cost 
50% of the cost 

32



Waive District Health 
Insurance 

Per Contract On proof of coverage, a $250 reimbursement per 
month. 

Life/AD&D Insurance 17.6 1 x Salary up to $50,000 
Long-term Disability 17.10 66.67% of monthly salary up to $15,000 of salary 
Deferred Comp 457 18.1 Voluntary – EE pays 
   
CalPERS Retirement 18.1 Classic Employees – 2.7% at 55, highest year, EE 

pays 8% pretax 
PEPRA Employees – 2% at 62, final 3 years of 
compensation; EE pays 8% pre-tax; salary limit of 
$128,059 as of CY 2021, adjusted annually.  

Retiree Medical 18.2.2 Hired pre-1/1/03: State one party rate employee only; 
5 year vesting 
 
Hired post 1/1/03 and pre-7/1/2014: State 100/90 
plan EE, EE + sp, EE + dependents; 10 years PERS 
service 50% vested, 20 years PERS service 100% 
vested, 5 years with LGVSD 

18.3 Hired after 7/1/2014: 
10 years of District service, 50% vested, 100% vested 
at 20 years of District service.  Employee only 
coverage based on the One Party State Rate. 

Boot Allowance 19 Annual $300, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible employees 
 
 

Prescription Safety 
Glasses 

19 Every two years $305, as of 7/1/2021 to eligible 
employees 
 
 

 
Note: Employees of the Unrepresented Bargaining Group do not have rights under the MOU as they 

pertain to discipline, discharge or employment status.  Reference to the MOU sections in this 
document in terms of defining benefits offered to this group is for convenience only. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this _____ 

day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special district, 

(“District or Employer”) and Amy Schultz, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Amy Schultz as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, this position is identified in the codified Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District as Title 1, Chapter 5; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

34



TERMS 

Section 1: Confidential Nature of Position 

 This position is authorized by Title 1, Chapter 5 of the Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District.  The position is confidential and Employee shall maintain all information 

as confidential as required by the Ordinance. 

Section 2: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Amy Schultz as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential to perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, 

attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions 

as the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.  

B. The Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential shall meet all job duties as 

described in the attached Exhibit “A”.  The Administrative/Financial Specialist – Confidential 

shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary to conduct the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America and 

the State of California governing special districts as directed by the Administrative Services 

Manager and as outlined in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential job description.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity.   

35



D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

E. Due to the nature of her employment which requires close proximity to Employer's 

facilities, Employee agrees to maintain her permanent residence to a distance within a 45-minute 

automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.   

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without 

cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on December 2, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023 unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the provisions 

of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District and the District 

has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 30, 2023, 

Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from her position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

36



Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate salary 

step identified in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule attached 

as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.   

B. Prior to or within one month of her anniversary date, the Administrative Services 

Manager shall review the performance of Employee and, with the authorization of the General 

Manger, may increase Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule.   

C. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on District 

Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase determined 

by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

D. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $8,959 per month (Step 3) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021. 

E. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of  2.75%. 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The Administrative Services Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the 

Employee at least once annually, beginning with her first anniversary date as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential. Said review and evaluation shall be in 

accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop 

annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District 

37



and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among 

those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.   

Section 5: Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

i. The District contracts with the California Public Employee’s Retirement System 

for its retirement program.  The District’s contract with the California Public 

Employee’s Retirement System for “New Members” are subject to the provisions 

of PEPRA which provides a retirement benefit of 2% at age 62 and the benefit 

based on the final three years of compensation.  In consideration for the 

Supplemental Wage Increase outlined in Section 3, Paragraph G, New Members 

shall pay a minimum of 50% of the normal cost as required by PEPRA, or the 

classic employee’s contribution rate, whichever is higher. 

Section 6: Professional Development 

Employee shall receive make efforts to continue her performance development.  Employee 

shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses for professional development.  

The General Manager’s determination for such expenses are solely within his discretion. 

 

38



Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge that 

Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate her employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to one month of Employee’s 

current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the Employee agrees 

to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases the District from 

any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the Employee refuses to sign 

this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to the severance 

pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in accordance with Government 

Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the maximum cash settlement that 

Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of Employee multiplied by 

the number of months left on the unexpired term of the Agreement.  However, if the unexpired 

39



term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the maximum cash settlement shall be an amount 

equal to the monthly salary of the employee multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation, compensatory time, and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Amy Shultz 
956 Edwards Ave 
Santa Rosa, CA 95401 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date 

of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of transmission 

in the United States Postal Service. 

 

 

40



Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or promise 

not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the Agreement will 

be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

41



42



 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

DALE MCDONALD (Administrative Services Manager) 
 
 
This  EMPLOYMENT  AGREEMENT  ("Agreement")  is  made  and  entered  into  this 

_____ day  of     __________ , 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District,  a special district, ("District  or Employer")  and DALE MCDONALD,  

("Employee") both of whom understand as follows: 

 
WITNESSETH 

 
WHEREAS,  Employer  desires  to  employ  the  services  of  DALE  

MCDONALD  as Administrative Services Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, ("Board") to provide certain 

benefits, to establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of 

said Employee; and 

WHEREAS  Employer  and  Employee  now  desire  to  set  forth  their  

agreement  for employment of Employee on the terms and subject to the conditions set 

forth herein. 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and 

understand its contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the provisions and 

promises hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows: 

43



TERMS 
 

Section 1: Duties 
 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ DALE MCDONALD as 

Administrative Services Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job 

description, attached as Exhibit "A" and to perform other legally permissible and 

proper duties and functions as the Administrative Services Manager. 

B. The Administrative Services Manager shall be in charge of and responsible 

for the operation and management of the Administrative Office and the general 

business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the 

United States of America and the State of California governing special districts as 

directed by the General Manager and as outlined in the Administrative Services 

Manager job description. The Administrative Services Manager shall do and perform all 

services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business 

and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall 

devote Employee's full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the 

performance of the duties and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall 

not conduct any business or render services of any kind for compensation, or undertake 

other business, professional or commercial activity without written approval of the 

General Manager. 

D. Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best 

interest of Employer in mind. 

44



 
Section 2: Term 

 
A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is "at will". 

Specifically, Employee serves as Administrative Services Manager at the pleasure of 

the General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either 

with or without cause. 

B.  The term of this Agreement shall continue on December 2, 2021 and end 

l a t e r  on June 30,  2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in  

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. In the event Employee continues 

employment with the District and the District has not completed  contract  negotiations  

with  management  employees  by June 30, 2023, Employee's employment with the 

District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, 

subject only to the provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

D.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the 

right of the Employee to resign at any time from their position  with Employer, subject 

only to the provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 
Section 3: Salary 

 
A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the  

appropriate salary step identified in the Administrative Services  Manager Salary 

Schedule attached as Exhibit "B". 

45



B. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General 

Manager shall review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, 

may increase Employee's salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in 

Administrative Services Manager Salary Schedule. 

C. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based 

on District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage 

salary increase determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

D. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021 the 

Employee's compensation will be $15,056 per month (Step 2) as set forth in Exhibit 

"B", the pay scale as of July 1, 2021. 

E. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage 

COLA of 2.75%.  

F. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager 

for more than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee's pay will be 

increased by 5% until the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General 

Manager. 

 
 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 
 

The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee 

at least once annually, beginning with their first anniversary date as Administrative 

Services Manager. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with specific 

criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop annual goals, 

46



objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District's policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among 

those goals, objectives, and performance standards. Additionally, the District may 

periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee's performance of the 

duties of Administrative Services Manager. 

 
 

Section 5: Management Benefits 
 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented 

Bargaining Group in the attached Exhibit "C". However, a specific description of 

certain of those benefits follows and the specific description below controls the rights 

and obligations of Employee and Employer for that specific benefit. 

B. Employee  shall  be  compensated  $399.23  monthly  for  a vehicle  

allowance.  The amount will increase each year based on Board approved COLA 

increases. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 

hours of Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every 

year, regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees' 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. ("PERL")), Employee is required 

to contribute 8% of the Employee's "compensation earnable and reportable" ("PERSable 

compensation") toward the costs of said benefit plan. 

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be 

47



reimbursed the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T,  

Sprint and Verizon). Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 

3 years up to $273.58. The allowance will be based on  Board approved COLA 

increases of each year. It is the sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their 

Employee owned phone. Employee shall be on call and maintain their phone in good 

working condition and in close proximity to respond to District emergencies as 

necessary or directed by the General Manager. Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a 

reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so 

reimbursed. 

F. If  Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt 

out of the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per 

month to offset the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide 

proof of health insurance coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager's consent, may purchase a tablet 

computer or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District 

policy. Should the Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the 

reimbursement, the Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time 

EMPLOYEE may accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 

hours of vacation time twice a year. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated 

at the EMPLOYEE's current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE's 

48



accumulated vacation balance. In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a 

vacation balance of less than 40 hours. Such requests for cash-out of vacation hours 

shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the General Manager, who will verify 

and approve the request. Vacation requests must be submitted by June 1 and/or 

December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period.  This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

 
A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for associations, publications 

and subscriptions for Employee necessary  for their continuation and full participation  

in national regional, state, and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable 

for their continued professional participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good 

of the Employer as determined solely by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and 

occasions necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and 

maintenance of required licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences and seminars 

that are necessary for their professional development and for the good of the Employer 

as dete1mined solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager's prior approval for any 

49



expenses in this Section which are not in the approved budget 

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

 
A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

 
B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance 

notice of termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. "At Will" Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly 

acknowledge that Employee is "at will" and serves at the pleasure of the General 

Manager. Employee may be terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole 

discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate their employment at any time with or 

without reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the 

death or permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to 

cause, then Employee may be entitled to severance  pay in a lump sum equal to three 

months of Employee's current salary. The District shall only be obligated to pay this 

severance if the Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by 

the District that releases the District from any and all claims the Employee may have 

against the District.  If  the Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release 

agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to the severance pay. Notwithstanding 

50



any other provision in this Agreement, in accordance with Government Code § 53260, 

in the event this Agreement is terminated, the maximum cash settlement that Employee 

may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of Employee multiplied by 

the number of months left on the unexpired term of the Agreement. However, if the 

unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the maximum cash settlement 

shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for 

accrued but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee 

shall be deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set 

forth under Section 7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 
 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the 

United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District 100 Lucas Valley Road, 
Suite 300 San Rafael, CA 94903 

 
 

DALE MCDONALD 
675 Edwards St. 
Crockett, CA 94525 

 
 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally 

served in the same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be 

51



deemed given as of the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such 

written notice in the course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 9: General 

Provisions 
 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District 

and the Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties 

with respect to such employment in any manner whatsoever. Any prior agreements 

merge into this Agreement and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this 

agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, 

inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any 

party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which  are not embodied herein,  and no 

other agreement, statement, or promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid 

or binding. Any modification of the Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 

and signed by both the General Manager and the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

heirs of Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, 

shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of 

52



California. Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the 

District's policies. Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and 

procedures when they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  

Any increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or 

disclosing information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or 

discrimination or any other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful.

53



54



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Greg Pease, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to become employed as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

 

55



TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job 

description attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties 

and functions as the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.  

B. The Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall be in charge of and 

responsible for the operation and management of the Collection System, Pump Stations, Safety 

Program and the general business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the 

laws of the United States of America and the State of California governing special districts as 

directed by the General Manager and as outlined in the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance 

Manager job description. The Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall do and 

perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the 

business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

56



E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence within a 45-minute 

automobile drive to the Employer’s office during non-commute hours.  Employee is entitled to 

an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by Emergency 

Response employee. 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or 

without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on December 2, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

  

57



Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate 

salary step identified in the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager Salary Schedule 

attached as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year 

of employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0% of base salary. 

ii. Effective the first pay period in January 2015, employees in the “management 

bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a longevity step equal to five percent of 

base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 years of continuous employment with 

the District. 

iii. Effective the first pay period in January 2015, employees in the “management 

bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step equal to two 

percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of continuous 

employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his/her anniversary date, the General Manager 

shall review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase 

Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

58



E. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,004 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%.  

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his/her first anniversary date as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with 

specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop annual goals, 

objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among those 

goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.   

 

 

59



Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle. Employer shall pay for all 

expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be permitted to use the vehicle for limited 

personal use only when Employee is either engaged in Employer activities or commuting to and 

from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable.  If Employee ceases to be Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager but is otherwise employed by Employer this vehicle benefit 

shall end. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increase of each year. It is the 

60



sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours.  EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year.  All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation requests must be submitted 

by June 1 and/or December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period. This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

61



 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his/her continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, 

and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

62



recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

63



G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Greg Pease 
 767 Riesling Road 
 Petaluma, CA 94954 
 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

64



B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

65



66



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Michael Cortez (District Engineer) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Michael Cortez, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Michael Cortez as District 

Engineer of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as District Engineer of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

  

67



TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Michael Cortez as District Engineer to 

perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to 

perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the District Engineer.  

Employee is presently employed as a District Engineer. 

B. The District Engineer shall perform civil engineering, project management, 

construction management and inspections, reviews of private improvement projects to ensure 

conformance with District standards and other engineering or technical services and the general 

business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States 

of America and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General 

Manager and as outlined in the District Engineer job description. The District Engineer shall do 

and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the 

business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

 

 

68



Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as District Engineer at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on December 2, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate 

salary step identified in the District Engineer Salary Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any 

appropriate longevity amounts. 

B. Longevity Amounts 

69



i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step calculated at the beginning of 

their 7th year of employment with the District. The longevity pay shall be 5.0% of 

base salary. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to three percent of base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District. Employees in the 

“management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step 

equal to two percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of 

continuous employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in District Engineer Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,865 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%. 

70



G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as District Engineer. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of District Engineer.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be compensated $399.23 monthly for a vehicle allowance. The 

amount will increase each year based on Board approved General Wage COLA 

increases. 

71



C. On July 1 of every year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours 

per year of Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, 

regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is 

the sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee 

shall be on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to 

respond to District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the 

Employee terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a 

reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so 

reimbursed. 

F.  If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

72



Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation pay requests will be 

processed twice a year, with submittal deadlines of June 1 and December 1.   This cash-out will 

be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and maintenance of required 

licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

73



C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

74



the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

 
Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Michael Cortez 
901 Innisfree Court 
Vallejo, CA 94591 

75



 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

76



E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77



78



EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

And 
 

Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) 
 
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Robert Liebmann, (“Employee”) both of whom understand 

as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Robert Liebmann as Plant 

Manager  of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Plant Manager of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

 

 

79



TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Robert Liebmann as Plant Manager to perform 

the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform 

other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the Plant Manager.  

B. The Plant Manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the operation and 

management of the Treatment Plant, Laboratory, Reclamation Area, and the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America 

and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General Manager and as 

outlined in the Plant Manager job description. The Plant Manager shall do and perform all 

services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business and 

governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.    

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence to a distance within 

a 45-minute automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.  Employee is 

80



entitled to an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by 

Emergency Response employee. 

 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Plant Manager at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on December 2, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee the salary identified in Plant 

Manager Salary Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

81



B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee is entitled to receive a longevity step calculated at the beginning of 

their 7th year of employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0% of 

base salary. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to three percent of base salary (3%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District. Employees in the 

“management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive an additional longevity step 

equal to two percent of base salary (2%) at the completion of 15 years of 

continuous employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Plant Manager Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the first period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,429 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%.  

82



G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as Plant Manager. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of Plant Manager.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle. Employer shall pay for all 

expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be permitted to use the vehicle for limited 

personal use only when Employee is either engaged in Employer activities or commuting to and 

83



from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable. If Employee ceases to be Plant Manager but is 

otherwise employed by Employer this vehicle benefit shall end. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is the 

sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

84



G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

twice a year. All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s current 

rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  In no 

event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation requests must be submitted 

by June 1 and/or December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period.  This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

85



necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

86



Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

87



Robert Liebmann 
75 Rockrose Way 
Novato, CA 94945 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 

Section 9: General Provisions 
 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

88



D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

H. Nothing in this agreement prevents the employee from discussing or disclosing 

information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any 

other conduct that the employee has reason to believe is unlawful. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89



90



RESOLUTION NO. 2021-2234 
 
 

A RESOLUTION RATIFYING UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE AGREEMENTS AND 
ADOPTING A REVISED PAY SCHEDULE FOR BOTH UNREPRESENTED AND 

REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES OF THE DISTRICT 
 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

WHEREAS, the District adopted the Pay Schedule for represented employees, effective July 1, 

2021, on August 19, 2021 while awaiting completion of management contracts; and 

WHEREAS, the District approved employment agreements with management and unpresented 

employees on December 2, 2021 requiring the Pay Schedule be updated; and 

WHEREAS, the District wishes to have only one published Pay Schedule for management, 

represented, and unrepresented employees; and 

WHEREAS, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District”) has contracted with CalPERS to 

provide certain retirement benefits to its employees; and  

WHEREAS, the governance of retirement benefits provided to public employees in the state of 

California is governed by California Government Code Title 2, Division 5, Part 3 Public 

Employees’ Retirement System; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Administration of the Public Employees’ Retirement System has 

promulgated regulations to implement requirements of the governing law; and 

WHEREAS, the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement System 

Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5) states that  

“(a) For purposes of determining the amount of “compensation earnable” pursuant to 

Government Code Sections 20630, 20636, and 20636.1, payrate shall be limited to the 

amount listed on a pay schedule that meets all of the following requirements: 

(1) Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer's governing body in 

accordance with requirements of applicable public meeting laws;  

(2) Identifies the position title for every employee position;  

(3) Shows the payrate for each identified position, which may be stated as a 

single amount or as multiple amounts within a range;  

(4) Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is 

hourly, daily, bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually;  

(5) Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and 

available for public review from the employer during normal business hours or 

posted on the employer's internet website;  

91



(6) Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions;  

(7) Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less 

than five years; and  

(8) Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the payrate”. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby ratify the Employment Agreements for its unrepresented employees, which 

list is attached as Exhibit A and is included by reference. 

BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District does hereby adopt the revised Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 for all employees, 

which is attached as Exhibit B and is included by reference, in accordance with the 

requirements of the California Code of Regulations, Subchapter 1, Employees’ Retirement 

System Regulations section 570.5 (2 CCR § 570.5). 

BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

does herby approve the  Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management 

and Employee Bargaining Group for the term July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2023, which is attached 

as Exhibit C and is included by reference. 

*     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     *     * 

I hereby certify that the forgoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, at a regular meeting thereof held on December 16, 2021, by the following 

vote of the members thereof: 

 AYES, and in favor thereof, Members: 

 NOES, Members: 

 ABSENT, Members: 

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

 

         ________________________________ 

           Teresa L. Lerch, District Secretary 

           Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPROVED: 

           (seal) 

__________________________________ 

Crystal J. Yezman Board President 

 

92



List of Unpresented Management and Administrative Employment Contracts 

Effective as of July 1, 2021 

Approved December 2, 2021 

 

Administrative/Financial Specialist Schultz 

Administrative Services Manager McDonald 

Collections/Safety/Maintenance Manager Pease 

District Engineer Cortez 

Plant Manager Liebmann 

 

Notes on above Employment Agreements 

Employment Agreements referenced in this resolution and presented to the Board are on file at 

the District office.  

References to functions and duties Exhibit “A” under Section 1 of the employment agreements 

refers to classification descriptions previously approved by the Board of Directors. They are on 

file with the original employment agreements and are available at the District office. 

References to Salary Schedule Exhibit “B” under Section 3 of the employment agreements 

refers to the revised Pay Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 for all employees, which is attached as 

Exhibit B of this resolution. 

References to Benefits Exhibit “C” under Section 5 of the employment agreements refers to the 

Summary of Benefit Provisions for the Unrepresented Management and Employee Bargaining 

Group for the term July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2023, which is attached as Exhibit C of this 

resolution. 

93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



Agenda Summary Report    

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager 
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: December 16, 2021 

Re: Refuse Rate Adjustment for 2022 

Item Type:  Consent  Action  X  Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes   No (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Open a public hearing to allow for discussion and input from the public concerning the proposed rate 
increase of 0.64% and approve the rates for 2022 by adopting Ordinance No. 188 Amending Title 4 of the 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Code. 

BACKGROUND 
At the December 2, 2021 Board meeting, Marin Sanitary Services (MSS) and R3 Consulting Services 
presented new rates to the board for next calendar year starting January 1, 2022. Today we will hold a 
public hearing of which the customers of our refuse collection service have been properly notified by 
publication in the local newspaper as well as our web site. 

The attached Review of Marin Sanitary Service’s 2022 Rate Application submitted to the Marin 
Franchisors’ Group by R3 presents the justification for the rate increase proposed.  It is the same report 
that was presented at the December 2, 2021 Board meeting. 

Based on review of the rate application, R3 Consulting determined that an overall rate increase of 0.64% is 
an appropriate increase for solid waste services to the customers located within the boundaries of the Las 
Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
Ordinance 185 – Refuse rates adopted January 21, 2021. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no material impact to the 2021-22 Budget. This is a pass-through of charges to the refuse 
customers, which is already budgeted. 

Attachments: 

Attachment A Review of Marin Sanitary Service’s 2022 Rate Application submitted to the Marin 
Franchisors’ Group by R3, including the Rate Revenue Requirements and the Bay 
Area Rate Survey 

Attachment B Ordinance 188, An Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, An Ordinance Regulating 
Garbage, Rubbish, Waste Matter and Refuse, and the Collection, Removal and 
Disposal Thereof 

Item Number_________4_____ 

101

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


November 10, 2021 

Dale McDonald 
Administrative Services Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

Subject: Review of Marin Sanitary Service’s 2022 Rate Application 

Dear Mr. McDonald, 

R3 Consulting Group, Inc. (R3) is pleased to submit this report detailing the results of our review of Marin 
Sanitary Service’s (MSS’s) 2022 rate application for Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (District).This 
review was conducted pursuant to R3’s engagement with the seven agencies (Agencies) served by MSS, 
including the City of San Rafael, County of Marin, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, City of Larkspur, 
Town of Ross, Town of Fairfax, and the Town of San Anselmo.  

This report summarizes results from our review of MSS’s 2022 indexed rate application per the 
streamlined rate setting methodology established in 2019. The methodology is described in the amended 
Exhibit B to the Franchise Agreement that the District holds with MSS. 

Executive Summary 
On August 30, 2021, MSS submitted its application for an increase to its solid waste rates, to be effective 
January 1, 2022. This is an indexed year rate adjustment, which primarily projects compensation due to 
MSS based on the applicable water-sewer-trash CPI Index (WST). Per Exhibit B, the rate adjustment is 
subject to a 2.5% minimum and a 5% maximum rate cap for MSS’ operations.  

Based on our review of the rate application, R3 concurs with MSS’s calculated 2022 rate revenue 
requirement of $3,195,816 for the District in 2022, which is $20,360 higher than the 2021 rate revenue 
requirement of $3,175,456.  

The corresponding adjustment to the District’s solid waste rates for 2022 is 0.64%. Table 1, on the 
following page, compares the 2021 and 2022 rate revenue requirements and demonstrates the rate 
adjustment calculations for 2022. 

ATTACHMENT A

102



Table 1: 2022 Rate Adjustment Summary 

2021 2022 Dollar 
Change 

Percentage 
Change 

Adjustment 
to Rates 

Collector Operations 2,149,809 2,226,457 76,648 3.57% 2.41% 

Garbage Landfilling and Organics 
Processing 381,017 358,145 (22,872) -6.00% -0.72% 

State Compliance Database 
Subscription 762 1,029 267 35.06% 0.01% 

SB 1383 Compliance 0 25,404 25,404 N/A 0.80% 

Profit Calculation 266,622 274,087 7,465 2.80% 0.24% 

Recyclable Materials Processing 75,138 40,861 (34,277) -45.62% -1.08% 

Interest 48,889 50,632 1,743 3.57% 0.05% 

Zero Waste Marin Fees 55,356 50,123 (5,233) -9.45% -0.16% 

Franchise Fees 158,773 159,791 1,018 0.64% 0.03% 

Annual Rate Revenue 
Reconciliation 12,083 0 (12,083) N/A -0.38% 

Recycling Property Insurance 8,690 6,352 (2,338) -26.90% -0.07% 

SB 1383 Negotiations and 
Implementation Support 0 2,935 2,935 N/A 0.09% 

Fuel and Oil True-up (Sunsetting in 
2021) 6,839 0 (6,839) N/A -0.22% 

Garbage Landfilling and Organics 
True-up (Sunsetting in 2021) 1,495 0 (1,495) N/A -0.05% 

Recycling Losses (Sunsetting in 
2021) 9,983 0 (9,983) N/A -0.31% 

Total Annual Rate Revenue 
Requirement 3,175,456 3,195,816 20,360 0.64% 0.64% 

103



2022 Rate Adjustment Details 
Collector Operations 

Collector Operations compensates MSS for labor, benefits, general and administrative, depreciation and 
lease, maintenance, fuel and oil. Per Exhibit B, compensation for Collector Operations are adjusted using 
the CPI index for Water and Sewer and Trash Collection. R3 used publicly available Bureau of Labor 
Statistics data to verify the calculated increase of 3.57% to Collector Operations.   

The result is $2,226,457 in Collector Operations for the District in 2022, which is an increase of $76,648 
compared to 2021.  

Garbage and Organics Tipping Fees 

Garbage Landfilling and Organics Processing tipping fee projections are calculated using actual tonnages 
collected from January 1 through June 30, 2021, which are then annualized to project total 2021 tonnages. 
Those tonnages are then multiplied by the projected 2022 tipping fees calculated in accordance with 
Exhibit B. This is based on the actual per ton tipping fees for each waste stream category, or if unavailable, 
projected tipping fees are calculated using the current year per ton tipping fees escalated by the change 
in WST— subject to a minimum increase of 2.5% and a maximum increase of 5.0%.  

R3 reviewed MSS’s projected 2021 tons and the 2022 per ton tipping fees for residential garbage, 
residential green waste/organics, commercial garbage, commercial mixed waste for processing, 
commercial food scraps, and MSS-served Agencies’ waste delivered to MSS. Per Exhibit B, R3 confirmed 
that MSS correctly projected tons by category using annualized actual tons for the first six months of the 
current rate year and, as actual tipping fees are unavailable, applied the 3.57% WST adjustment to project 
2022 per ton tip fees.  

The result is $358,145 in Garbage and Organics Tipping fees for the District in 2022, which is a decrease 
of $22,872 compared to 2021. This decrease is the result of decreased tonnages projected in 2021 
compared to 2020.  

Database Subscription for Compliance with State Law 
The rate setting methodology allows for the recovery of additional revenues associated with costs for 
changes in law and/or new State mandates.  

For increased operating expenses due to State Laws, including AB 1826 and SB 1383, MSS has included in 
its rate application a line item for a compliance database. This item was added and approved in MSS’s 
2020 and 2021 Rate Adjustment applications for MSS’s subscription to Recyclist, which is a valuable 
reporting tool related to compliance with State Law. MSS expects this line item will continue to be present 
in future rate applications. 

The result is $1,029 in Database Subscription for the District in 2022, which is an increase of $267 
compared to 2021.  

Compliance with SB 1383 

Similar to the above, MSS is requesting adjustment for anticipated increases in operating expenses 
associated with new State Law, SB 1383. SB 1383 takes effect January 1, 2022 and will result in increased 
subscriptions to organics services throughout MSS’s service area. Throughout its seven franchises in Marin 

104



County in 2022, MSS will add one new organics recycling collection route (comprised of a truck and driver), 
one new outreach and education specialist, and additional equipment to process and clean collected 
organic waste.  

Subject to approval of an amendment to the Franchise Agreement with MSS, the company will also be 
providing compliance monitoring and inspection services, contamination monitoring, outreach and 
education, and reporting functions on behalf of the District. The total 2022 revenue recovery for these 
new SB 1383 compliance measures for MSS is $387,765.  

The result is $25,404 in new SB 1383 Compliance rate revenues for the District in 2022; this item was not 
present in the rate revenue requirement in prior rate years.  

Profit Calculation 

R3 reviewed the calculation of MSS’s profit, which is a function of total allowable operating expenses 
($2,611,035 for the District) divided by the contractually set operating ratio of 90.5% and subtracting the 
same sum, rounded to the nearest dollar. MSS’s actual profit achievement will vary depending on the 
company’s real revenues and expenses; as such, profit is not guaranteed. 

The result is $274,087 in Calculated Profit for the District in 2022, which is an increase of $7,465 compared 
to 2021. The increase is due to a net increase in allowable operating expenses, which were described in 
the previous sections of this report.  

Recyclable Materials Processing 
A net recyclable materials processing cost is calculated each year to share the risks and rewards of 
changing recycling markets between rate payers and MSS.  

Per Exhibit B, the Recyclable Materials Processing cost is escalated by the annual change in the WST and 
that amount is then divided by the number of all tons of recyclable materials processed at Marin Recycling 
Center from July 1 of the prior rate year through June 30 of the current rate year.  

The recyclable materials revenue amount is calculated based on 90% of the total revenue received by the 
Marin Recycling Center for recyclable materials, which is then divided by the number recyclable material 
tons processed at Marin Recycling Center. The calculation does not include income or tons from recyclable 
materials processed for third parties or agencies that were not customers of MSS or the Marin Recycling 
Center as of December 31, 2018.  

For Rate Year 2022, the resulting Net Recyclable Materials Processing Cost Per Ton is $29.59, a decrease 
of $24,19 from the 2021 value of $53.78. This reduction is due to increases in the value of recyclable 
commodities sold by MSS in the prior year.  

The result is $40,861 in Recyclable Materials Processing for the District in 2022, which is a decrease of 
$34,277 compared to 2021.  

Interest 

Interest is based on MSS’s actual interest from its loan amortization schedules for actual and projected 
capital expenditures for services under the Agreement as of the last base year review in 2019. This is 
increased in the same manner as Collector Operations, as described above, via WST annually.  

The result is $50,632 in Interest for the District in 2022, which is an increase of $1,743 compared to 2021. 

105



Zero Waste Marin Fees 

Zero Waste Marin Fees are set as a pass through as government fees and, per Exhibit B to the agreements, 
changes in such fees result in appropriate adjustments to rates to compensate MSS for increases or 
decreases in such fees. 

JPA fees included in the annual indexed rate applications for the MSS service area are set to be equal to 
the current Zero Waste Marin Fee assessments for the current fiscal year, with 100% of the MSS hauler 
fees passed through to the MSS Agencies, and with none of the MSS Transfer Station fees passed through 
to the MSS Agencies. For 2022, the total amount passed through to the MSS Agencies is $699,372. 

The result is $50,123 in Zero Waste Marin Fees for the District in 2022, which is a decrease of $5,233 
compared to 2021. The decrease is due to the fact that the 2021 fees included a true-up for under 
collection of fees in 2019 and 2020, which is no longer included in the rate application.   

Franchise Fees 
Franchise Fees are calculated by multiplying the applicable franchise fee percentage by each agency 
served by MSS by the revenues projected for each that Rate Year. The District’s Franchise Fee is 5% of 
gross revenues.  

The result is $159,791 in Franchise Fees for the District in 2022, which is an increase of $1,018 compared 
to 2021, and is due to an overall increase in the rate revenue requirement.  

Other Agency Fees 
Other Agency Fees are calculated and applied to each of the Agencies based on the specific fees set by 
those Agencies. The District has not set Other Agency Fees, and the result is thus $0 for the District for 
2022. 

Annual Rate Revenue Reconciliation 
The Rate Revenue Reconciliation item is to reconcile the projected rate revenue from the 2020 rate 
adjustment to the actual revenue collected through rates charged during the 2020 rate year.  

Due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, MSS experienced an overall shortfall of $1,497,138 in 2020 
billed revenues compared to the annual revenue requirement. However, because MSS also received a 
Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan in 2020 – and expects that loan to be forgiven – MSS is waiving 
the Rate Revenue Reconciliation for 2020, contingent on final determination of the PPP loan forgiveness. 
MSS is still awaiting news regarding PPP loan forgiveness; if, in the unlikely event the PPP loan is not 
forgiven, MSS requests the ability to revisit the 2020 Rate Revenue Reconciliation.  

Extraordinary Items 

Items that are outside of the categories as defined in the Exhibit B Adjustment methodology may be 
proposed by MSS as extraordinary items. Two such items are proposed by MSS for 2022 and are 
described below.  

Recycling Property Insurance 

Property insurance for recycling processing facilities have gone up across the country for circumstances 
outside of MSS’s control. MSS has previously and separately briefed the Agencies on this item, and R3 is 

106



aware of the market circumstances surrounding it. R3 finds that this extraordinary item is supported and 
reasonable. The 2021 recycling property insurance extraordinary item proposed by MSS was $124,662, 
and for 2022 it is $90,726.  

The result is $6,352 in Recycling Property Insurance for the District in 2022, which is a decrease of $2,338 
compared to 2021.  

Funding for SB 1383 Contract Negotiations and Implementation 

The MSS served Agencies have contracted with R3 to provide support for negotiation of an amendment 
to the MSS franchise agreements with the Agencies, effectuating the new services, terms and conditions 
for SB 1383 compliance. That contract also includes a contingency for support to the Agencies in 
implementing SB 1383 in 2022. R3’s expenses for that work are not to exceed $44,380 and are recoverable 
via the solid waste rates so as not to be direct expenses to the Agencies.  

The result is $2,935 in SB 1383 Contract Negotiations and Implementation support for the District in 2022. 

Three Prior Line Items Sunsetting in 2022 

Rate adjustment calculations in 2019, 2020 and 2021 included three line-item categories that are 
sunsetting and will no longer be included as rate adjustment considerations in 2022. These include true 
ups for fuel costs ($6,839), disposal costs ($1,495), and recycling losses ($9,983). The result of these items 
sunsetting is a reduction in the District’s rate revenue requirement of $18,317 in 2022.  

Survey of Comparable Rates 
Attachment 1 shows the results of R3's survey of solid waste rates as of October 2021 for agencies located 
throughout the Bay Area. For the purpose of comparing the MSS Agencies’ rates to other agencies we 
have applied the 2022 rate increases for MSS served Agencies and compared those anticipated 2022 rates 
to the current rates for all other agencies. It is anticipated that rates for other agencies will also increase 
in 2022, and since this comparison uses 2022 rates for the MSS Agencies, the rate comparison will become 
more favorable as other entities adopt 2022 rates.  

Figure 1, on the following page, shows a summary of Marin rates for residential customers with 30-35 
gallon garbage service. Bars shown in blue are 2021/22 rates for Mill Valley Refuse Service; purple is the 
2021/22 rate for Tamalpais Community Services District; red are 2021/22 rates for Recology Marin, and; 
green are proposed 2022 MSS rates. The grey bar is the average for all of Marin County, excluding the 
MSS Agencies. Overall, 2022 rates for the Agencies served by MSS are less than or equal to the Marin 
County average.  

107



Figure 1 
Marin County Rates: MSS 2022 Proposed Residential 32-gal Can compared to Current 30-35-gal Can 

Rates and Marin County Average of $51.18 (Excluding MSS Rates) 

If approved, 2022 monthly residential rates for a 32-gallon container (the most frequent residential 
service level) for the District will be $41.38. The District’s commercial rates for a 3-cubic yard bin 
serviced 1 time per week will be $599.44.  

These survey results are presented as an indication of the reasonableness of the resulting rates for 2022. 
Conclusions should not be immediately drawn from this information because rate comparisons are 
intrinsically difficult and often misleading. This results from differences in issues such as those listed 
below: 

 The types and ranges of services provided;

 The level of subscription to solid waste services by residential, commercial, and industrial
customers;

 The ratio of residential to commercial and industrial customers;

 The terrain in which the service is performed;

 Disposal, transfer and process costs, and amounts per capita;

 Rate structures; and

 Governmental fees (e.g., franchise fees, vehicle impact fees, etc.).

 $-

 $10.00

 $20.00

 $30.00

 $40.00

 $50.00

 $60.00

 $70.00

 $80.00

108



*       *       *       *       *       *       * 

R3 appreciates the opportunity to be of service to the District. Should you have any questions regarding 
this report or need any additional information, please contact me by phone at (510) 292-0853 or by email 
at gschultz@r3cgi.com.  

 

Sincerely, 

R3 CONSULTING GROUP 

 

 

 

Mr. Garth Schultz | Principal 

  

109



1 YD Bin 1 YD Bin 3 YD Bin 3 YD Bin

20 Gal. 30‐35 Gal. 60‐64 Gal. 90‐96 Gal. 1x/Week 3x/Week 1x/Week 3x/Week

City of Alameda Alameda 7/1/2021 35.99$          45.43$          74.64$          104.25$        173.05$        349.57$        519.16$        104.67$       

City of Albany Alameda 5/1/2021 40.89$          45.78$          79.13$          112.45$        182.40$        547.20$        547.20$        1,641.60$   

City of Berkeley Alameda 7/1/2021 27.30$          43.66$          87.28$          130.87$        173.77$        489.63$        480.92$        1,428.48$   

City of Dublin Alameda 7/1/2019 N / A 28.82$          52.95$          77.07$          139.86$        489.18$        419.58$        1,328.34$   

City of Emeryville Alameda 1/1/2021 13.43$          22.23$          44.46$          66.67$          132.39$        397.17$        397.17$        1,191.51$   

City of Fremont Alameda 1/1/2020 38.94$          39.72$          43.33$          62.64$          108.92$        N / A 244.85$        N / A

City of Livermore Alameda 7/1/2021 29.94$          39.63$          59.36$          59.93$          119.07$        371.48$        357.20$        1,138.04$   

City of Newark Alameda 1/1/2021 32.08$          35.65$          63.15$          90.63$          144.48$        450.78$        382.24$        1,042.40$   

City of Oakland Alameda 7/1/2021 46.13$          52.36$          92.29$          138.62$        255.26$        765.71$        607.89$        1,823.59$   

City of Piedmont Alameda 7/1/2021 87.98$          93.23$          128.43$        143.82$        N / A N / A N / A N / A

City of Pleasanton Alameda 7/1/2021 N /A 27.58$          N / A 48.12$          123.49$        392.01$        370.45$        1,154.44$   

City of San Leandro Alameda 7/1/2021 27.29$          34.00$          56.59$          79.16$          149.07$        450.70$        450.70$        1,352.09$   

City of Union City Alameda 7/1/2021 31.95$          39.95$          79.96$          119.90$        165.98$        458.43$        434.94$        1,185.35$   

Castro Valley Sanitary District Alameda 7/1/2021 32.42$          51.26$          87.29$          124.30$        213.68$        641.18$        519.67$        1,371.06$   

Oro Loma Sanitary District (L1) Alameda 9/1/2021 N /A 23.15$          46.65$          69.95$          130.61$        339.49$        347.89$        974.53$       

Oro Loma Sanitary District (L2) Alameda 9/1/2020 N /A 23.15$          46.65$          69.95$          130.61$        339.49$        347.89$        974.53$       

Oro Loma Sanitary District (L3) Alameda 9/1/2021 N /A 26.98$          53.97$          80.69$          151.12$        392.82$        402.55$        1,127.65$   

City of Richmond Contra Costa 1/1/2021 35.23$          43.02$          81.41$          120.93$        286.41$        729.43$        657.93$        1,806.87$   

City of San Pablo Contra Costa 1/1/2021 28.37$          35.06$          67.87$          101.73$        267.92$        681.68$        624.96$        1,717.79$   

City of El Cerrito Contra Costa 1/1/2021 45.60$          59.77$          118.70$        N / A 402.70$        1,143.87$    N / A N / A

City of Hercules Contra Costa 1/1/2021 35.10$          41.67$          73.61$          106.56$        299.79$        756.87$        690.14$        1,887.27$   

City of Pinole Contra Costa 1/1/2020 31.11$          37.21$          66.28$          96.29$          285.04$        727.45$        668.00$        1,839.38$   

Unincorporated West Contra Costa Contra Costa 1/1/2020 29.83$          36.60$          70.06$          104.37$        254.38$        645.29$        579.12$        1,585.36$   

City of Belvedere Marin 7/1/2021 51.06$          63.10$          107.06$        151.03$        270.81$        748.15$        N / A N / A

Novato Sanitary District Marin 7/1/2021 14.94$          23.90$          47.76$          71.67$          N / A N / A 311.34$        772.52$       

West Marin 1 Marin 7/1/2021 28.66$          43.47$          81.52$          130.31$        330.74$        645.37$        496.12$        1,125.39$   

City of Sausalito Marin 7/1/2021 N / A 47.75$          95.50$          143.25$        220.78$        N / A 662.35$        N / A
Tamalpais Com. Service Dist. 1 Marin 7/1/2021 N / A 71.02$          107.22$        145.47$        470.49$        1,411.48$    N / A N / A

Town of Tiburon Marin 7/1/2021 52.97$          60.09$          101.26$        152.43$        248.32$        677.47$        N / A N / A

Town of Corte Madera Marin 7/1/2021 38.15$          44.88$          82.04$          119.20$        179.81$        485.29$        N / A N / A

City of Mill Valley Marin 7/1/2021 50.09$          55.24$          92.24$          129.16$        232.94$        626.82$        N / A N / A

Town of Fairfax Marin 1/1/2022 37.81$          45.32$          90.67$          135.99$        266.52$        631.27$        624.82$        1,635.54$   

Town of San Anselmo Marin 1/1/2022 39.24$          51.28$          102.64$        153.96$        292.16$        876.43$        841.58$        2,524.91$   

City of San Rafael Marin 1/1/2022 39.77$          46.79$          93.58$          140.37$        302.00$        923.41$        577.97$        1,640.58$   

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Marin 1/1/2022 35.18$          41.38$          82.77$          124.15$        296.25$        889.49$        599.44$        1,673.07$   

City of Larkspur Marin 1/1/2022 43.59$          51.25$          102.50$        153.75$        325.43$        975.94$        653.53$        1,713.64$   

Town of Ross Marin 1/1/2022 36.90$          43.43$          86.86$          130.29$        217.54$        376.80$        557.57$        1,672.55$   

County of Marin Marin 1/1/2022 31.54$          51.53$          105.56$        163.47$        372.26$        1,116.93$    595.89$        1,787.68$   

City of Campbell 1 Santa Clara 7/1/2021 30.25$          37.41$          67.72$          98.04$          172.62$        522.81$        345.24$        1,045.62$   

City of Cupertino 1 Santa Clara 2/1/2021 28.50$          30.50$          58.71$          86.91$          180.23$        540.74$        288.39$        865.15$       

City of Los Altos Santa Clara 7/1/2021 39.13$          42.15$          84.28$          126.45$        165.35$        496.08$        196.07$        1,488.27$   

City of Milpitas Santa Clara  1/1/2021 34.08$          37.04$          43.56$          50.05$          122.91$        302.68$        279.14$        790.21$       

City of Monte Sereno 1 Santa Clara 7/1/2021 33.76$          41.92$          76.48$          111.03$        229.53$        695.28$        459.06$        1,390.55$   

City of Mountain View Santa Clara 7/1/2021 25.45$          37.10$          74.20$          111.30$        113.50$        385.35$        339.80$        1,064.90$   

City of Palo Alto Santa Clara 7/1/2017 27.81$          50.07$          100.15$        150.22$        219.49$        590.31$        504.40$        1,455.48$   

City of San Jose Santa Clara 7/1/2021 N / A 54.77$          91.54$          137.31$        166.51$        476.84$        232.57$        665.12$       

City of Santa Clara Santa Clara 7/1/2021 38.85$          38.85$          48.54$          N / A 149.93$        442.56$        389.02$        1,137.97$   

City of Sunnyvale Santa Clara 7/1/2020 N / A 37.36$          41.47$          46.67$          179.73$        504.63$        446.54$        1,301.57$   

City of Saratoga1 Santa Clara 7/1/2021 32.48$          40.26$          73.20$          106.14$        245.22$        743.12$        490.44$        1,486.23$   

Town of Los Altos Hills Santa Clara 7/1/2020 34.33$          47.85$          95.74$          143.57$        117.61$        184.05$        247.70$        430.39$       
Town of Los Gatos1 Santa Clara 7/1/2021 32.23$          40.11$          73.07$          106.03$        214.01$        648.33$        428.02$        1,296.66$   

37.72$          47.28$          94.94$          143.14$        296.02$        827.18$        635.83$        1,806.85$   

39.31$          51.18$          89.33$          130.32$        279.13$        765.76$        489.94$        948.96$       

38.45$          49.36$          91.95$          136.30$        287.58$        798.83$        592.06$        1,616.21$   

35.87$          43.17$          77.64$          110.76$        216.18$        605.89$        468.58$        1,324.74$   
1 1 CY not available, reflected here for 1.5 CY

Bay Area Rate Survey

Effective 

Dates

Commercial

Jurisdiction County
Residential Single Family

All City Average

Marin Sanitary Service Agencies Average

Marin County Average without MSS

Marin County ‐ All

110



BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

ORDINANCE NO. 188 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 1, AN ORDINANCE REGULATING SOLID 
WASTE, RECYCLABLE AND ORGANIC MATERIALS, AND THE COLLECTION, 

REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL THEREOF, TITLE 4 – GARBAGE SERVICE, AS 
AMENDED, OF THE ORDINANCE CODE OF THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY 

SANITARY DISTRICT. 

The Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin County, California, 
does ordain as follows: 

Appendix A of Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Ordinance Code is 
amended to read as follows: 

ATTACHMENT B 

111



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF RATES

RESIDENTIAL REFUSE COLLECTION RATES
Rate increase: 0.64%
Effective date: 01/01/2022

Weekly Service Rates (Billed Quarterly)

Monthly Rate  Quarterly Rate

20 gallon cart $35.18 $105.54
32 gallon cart $41.38 $124.14
64 gallon cart $82.76 $248.28
96 gallon cart $124.14 $372.42
Low income ‐ 20 gal* cart $28.14 $84.42
Low income ‐ 32 gal* cart $33.10 $99.30
Low income ‐ 64 gal* cart $66.21 $198.63
Low income ‐ 96 gal* cart $99.31 $297.93
Additional Organics Cart Rental  $2.44 $7.32
(35 or 64 gallon cart)

Additional Split Cart Rental $2.44 $7.32
(64 or 96 gallon cart)

Additional Monthly Charges Monthly Fee Quarterly Fee

 (per cart, each way)

Distance 5' ‐ 50' $5.68 $17.04
Distance Over 50' $7.31 $21.93

Additional Service Fees per Occurrence Fee 

Return Fees ‐ Off day $25.00

Return Fees ‐ Same day $10.00

Resume Service/Late Fee $35.00

Contamination (cart) any size cart $30.00

Overload/Overweight (cart) $25.00

Extra bag garbage $15.00

Extra bag yard waste $10.00

Steam Clean (cart) $15.00

Special Collection $35.00

Special Handling (Bulky items) $30.00

Bulky item fees per item Fees Vary

Cart Strap Set‐up Admin Fee $25.00 

20 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $55.00 

32 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $60.00 

64 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $65.00 

96 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $75.00 

64 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $90.00 

96 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $100.00 

*Must meet PG&E CARE program eligibility requirements.

O
N
E 
TI
M
E 
SE
R
V
IC
E 
FE
ES

R
EO

C
C
U
R
IN
G
 C
H
A
R
G
ES

Residential Service (Bundled service includes 1 landfill (garbage) cart, 1 organics cart, & 1 recycling split cart )

2022 Flat rate

NOTE: We may not be able to accommodate any collection requests NOT at the curb due to a variety of factors including safety, accessibility, and

efficiency. Requests to be assessed and approved by Route Manager.

112



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF RATES

COMMERCIAL REFUSE COLLECTION RATES
Rate increase: 0.64%

Effective date: 01/01/2022

COMMERCIAL CARTS, BINS, ROLL‐OFFS 

Garbage 1 2 3 4 5 6

20 gallon cart* $35.98 $71.96 $107.94 $143.92 $179.90 $215.88 $8.30

32 gallon cart $42.32 $84.64 $126.96 $169.28 $211.60 $253.92 $9.77

64 gallon cart $84.64 $169.28 $253.92 $338.56 $423.20 $507.84 $19.53

96 gallon cart $126.96 $253.92 $380.88 $507.84 $634.80 $761.76 $29.30

1 yard bin $296.25 $593.23 $889.49 $1,185.74 $1,482.64 $1,778.83 $68.37

2 yard bin $447.85 $864.73 $1,281.29 $1,697.80 $2,114.68 $2,531.20 $103.35

3 yard bin $599.44 $1,136.22 $1,673.07 $2,209.86 $2,746.70 $3,283.55 $138.33

4 yard bin $791.47 $1,551.55 $2,311.80 $3,071.81 $3,831.92 $4,592.27 $182.65

5 yard bin $983.51 $1,966.90 $2,950.54 $3,933.78 $4,917.16 $5,901.03 $226.96

6 yard bin $1,138.94 $2,158.83 $3,178.84 $4,198.73 $5,218.74 $6,238.75 $262.83

10 yard roll‐off $1,809.50 $3,431.24 $5,052.60 $6,674.13 $8,295.99 $9,917.45 $417.58

18 yard roll‐off $2,969.61 $5,564.59 $8,159.49 $10,754.53 $13,349.71 $15,944.62 $685.29

20 yard roll‐off $3,619.00 $6,862.47 $10,105.20 $13,348.26 $16,591.97 $19,834.90 $835.15

25 yard roll‐off $4,523.76 $8,578.10 $12,631.50 $16,685.33 $20,739.96 $24,793.63 $1,043.94

Organics (F2E or Compost) 1 2 3 4 5 6
Additional One 

Time Empty

32 gallon $19.99 $39.98 $59.97 $79.96 $99.95 $119.94 $4.61

64 gallon $39.98 $79.96 $119.94 $159.92 $199.90 $239.88 $9.23

1 yard $139.87 $279.74 $419.61 $559.48 $699.35 $839.22 $32.28

2 yard $279.74 $559.48 $839.22 $1,118.96 $1,398.70 $1,678.44 $64.56

3 yard  $419.61 $839.22 $1,258.83 $1,678.44 $2,098.05 $2,517.66 $96.83

10 yard roll‐off $1,266.65 $2,533.30 $3,799.95 $5,066.60 $6,333.25 $7,599.90 $292.30

18 yard roll‐off $2,279.97 $4,559.94 $6,839.91 $9,119.88 $11,399.85 $13,679.82 $526.15

20 yard roll‐off $2,533.30 $5,066.60 $7,599.90 $10,133.20 $12,666.50 $15,199.80 $584.61

25 yard roll‐off $3,166.63 $6,333.26 $9,499.89 $12,666.52 $15,833.15 $18,999.78 $730.76

Garbage Compactors (Per empty)

Roll‐off Compactor Tipping fee per ton  $143.61 Roll‐off Compactor Hauling charge  $291.69

Stationary FL (Per Compacted Yard) $121.64 Roll‐off Compactor  Special handling  Rates Vary 

Service Fee Details

Lock  $25.00 Monthly fee

Box rental Fees Vary Minimum Bimonthly fee

Distance < 50ft $5.68 Monthly fee per cart, each way

Distance > 50ft $7.29 Monthly fee per cart, each way

Commercial Service Fees  Fee 

Return Fee ‐ BIN $75.00 

Return Fee ‐ CART  ‐same day $10.00 

Return Fee ‐ CART  ‐off day $25.00 

Late Fee/Resume Service Fee $35.00 

Contamination (BIN) $50.00 

Contamination (CART) $30.00 

Overload/Compaction (BIN) $60.00 

Overload/Compaction (CART) $25.00 

Extra Bag Garbage $15.00 

Additional Empty BIN Fees vary

Extra Bag Yard Waste $15.00 

Steam Clean (1‐6 yard BIN) $95.00 

Steam Clean (CART) $15.00 

Steam Clean (COMPACTOR/ROLL‐OFF) $225.00 

Lock Set‐up Admin Fee $25.00 

Lock Single Use Fee $5.00 

Lock Purchase Fee $20.00 

Lock Bar Bin Set‐up Fee $75.00 

Overweight Charge Per Ton* $205.00

20 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $55.00 
32 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $60.00 
64 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $65.00 
96 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $75.00 
64 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $90.00 
96 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $100.00 
Bin Repair/Replacement Fee** Fees vary
*Boxes exceeding 300lbs/yard

**Fees vary by size up to $1,200, not to exceed current replacement value.

O
N
E 
TI
M
E 
SE
R
V
IC
E 
FE
ES

R
EO

C
C
U
R
IN
G
 C
H
A
R
G
ES

Collections per Week
Additional One 

Time Empty

Other Charges 

* Customers must have a sufficient level of service for the volume of material generated. Requests for 20gal carts require assessment and approval of a Route Manager.

NOTE: All container types and sizes may not be available at all locations depending on a variety of factors including safety, accessibility, 

and efficiency. Requests to be assessed and approved by Route Manager.

113



LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
SCHEDULE OF RATES

MULTI‐FAMILY DWELLING REFUSE COLLECTION RATES

Rate increase: 0.64%

Effective date: 01/01/2022

MFD CARTS, BINS, ROLL‐OFFS

Garbage 1 2 3 4 5 6

20 gallon cart* $35.17 $70.34 $105.51 $140.68 $175.85 $211.02 $8.12

32 gallon cart $41.38 $82.76 $124.14 $165.52 $206.90 $248.28 $9.55

64 gallon cart $82.76 $165.52 $248.28 $331.04 $413.80 $496.56 $19.10

96 gallon cart $124.14 $248.28 $372.42 $496.56 $620.70 $744.84 $28.65

1 yard bin $273.62 $474.04 $674.40 $874.81 $1,075.23 $1,275.67 $63.14

2 yard bin $447.85 $864.73 $1,281.29 $1,697.80 $2,114.68 $2,531.20 $103.35

3 yard bin $599.44 $1,136.22 $1,673.07 $2,209.86 $2,746.63 $3,283.40 $138.33

4 yard bin $791.47 $1,551.55 $2,311.80 $3,071.81 $3,831.92 $4,592.27 $182.65

5 yard bin $983.51 $1,966.90 $2,950.54 $3,933.78 $4,917.16 $5,901.03 $226.96

6 yard bin $1,138.94 $2,158.83 $3,178.84 $4,198.73 $5,218.74 $6,238.75 $262.83

10 yard roll‐off $1,809.50 $3,431.24 $5,052.60 $6,674.13 $8,295.99 $9,917.45 $417.58

18 yard roll‐off $2,969.61 $5,564.59 $8,159.49 $10,754.53 $13,349.71 $15,944.62 $685.29

20 yard roll‐off $3,619.00 $6,862.47 $10,105.20 $13,348.26 $16,591.97 $19,834.90 $835.15

25 yard roll‐off $4,523.76 $8,578.10 $12,631.50 $16,685.33 $20,739.96 $24,793.63 $1,043.94

Organics  1 2 3 4 5 6
Additional One 

Time Empty

Additional Organics Cart Rental $2.44 $4.88 $7.32 $9.76 $12.20 $14.64 NA

(35  gallon cart) after 4 TOTAL carts per cart per 

month

Additional Organics Cart Rental $2.44 $4.88 $7.32 $9.76 $12.20 $14.64 NA

(64 gallon cart) after 4 TOTAL carts per cart per 

month.

1 yard $139.87 $279.74 $419.61 $559.48 $699.35 $839.22 $32.28

2 yard $279.74 $559.48 $839.22 $1,118.96 $1,398.70 $1,678.44 $64.56

3 yard  $419.61 $839.22 $1,258.83 $1,678.44 $2,098.05 $2,517.66 $96.83

Garbage Compactors (Per empty)

Roll‐off Compactor Tipping fee per ton  $143.61 Roll‐off Compactor Hauling charge  $291.69

Stationary FL (Per Compacted Yard) $121.64 Roll‐off Compactor  Special handling  Rates Vary 

Service Fee Details

Lock  $25.00 Monthly fee

Box rental Fees Vary Minimum Bimonthly fee

Distance < 50ft $5.68 Monthly fee per cart, each way

Distance > 50ft $7.29 Monthly fee per cart, each way

MFD One Time Service Fees  Fee 

Return Fee ‐ BIN $75.00 

Return Fee ‐ CART  ‐same day $10.00 

Return Fee ‐ CART  ‐off day $25.00

Late Fee/Resume Service Fee $35.00 

Contamination (BIN) Per Yard $50.00 

Contamination (CART) $30.00 

Overload/Compaction (BIN) $60.00 

Overload/Compaction (CART) $25.00 

Additonal Empty Bag $15.00 

Extra Bag Yard Waste $10.00 

Additional Empty Garbage Fees vary

Steam Clean (BIN) $95.00 

Steam Clean (CART) $15.00 

Steam Clean (COMPACTOR/ROLL‐OFF) $225.00 

Lock Set‐up Admin Fee $25.00 

Lock Single Use Fee $5.00 

Lock Purchase Fee $20.00 

Lock Bar Bin Set‐up Fee $75.00 

Overweight Charge Per Ton* $205.00

20 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $55.00 

32 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $60.00 

64 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $65.00 

96 Gal Cart Replacement Fee $75.00 

64 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $90.00 

96 Gal Split Cart Replacement Fee $100.00 

Bin Repair/Replacement Fee**
Fees vary by 

size up to 

$*Boxes exceeding 300lbs/yard

**Fees vary by size not to exceed current replacement value.

NOTE: All container types and sizes may not be available depending on a variety of factors including safety, accessibility, and efficiency. Requests to be assessed and approved by 

Route Manager.

NOTE: Minimum service level is 32 gallons per unit or equivalent volume. Decrease to 20 gallon per unit is subject to company review and approval.

NOTE: Up to four (4) Organics carts provided at no additional charge.  Additional carts may be rented for a nominal monthly fee. 

R
E

O
C

C
U

R
IN

G
 C

H
A

R
G

E
S

Collections per Week
Additional One 

Time Empty

Other Charges 

O
N

E
 T

IM
E

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

 F
E

E
S

114



All other ordinances and parts of ordinances inconsistent herewith are hereby repealed. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is full, true, and correct copy of the Ordinance duly and 
regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
of Marin County, California, at a meeting hereof held on December 16, 2021, by the following 
vote of members thereof: 

 
 
AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSTAIN: 

ABSENT:  
 

Teresa Lerch, District Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 

Crystal Yezman, President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
(seal) 

115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154


	Agenda 12162021
	1 Public Comment before Closed Session
	2 Closed Session
	1 Public Comment After Closed Session
	2A Minutes 11182021
	2B Draft Warrant List 12162021
	2C Board Compensation November 2021
	2D Resolution 2021-2233 Remote Meetings
	2E Managers and Financ Spe Contracts, Pay Scale and Resolution
	1_ASR Ratify Employee Agreements and Update Pay Schedule Resolution No 2021-2234
	2_RESOLUTION 2021-2234 Ratifying Employment Agreements and Adopting Pay Scales for all employees effective 07 01 2021
	RESOLUTION NO. 2021-2234
	A RESOLUTION RATIFYING UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE AGREEMENTS AND ADOPTING A REVISED PAY SCHEDULE FOR BOTH UNREPRESENTED AND REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES OF THE DISTRICT
	LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

	3_Pay Schedule  - Range and Steps July 1 2021 revised 12-16-21
	4_Unrepresented Benefit summary updated 12-06-21
	5_LGVSD_Schultz 07 01 2021 to 06 30 2023 FINAL Approved 12-2-21
	6_LGVSD_2021_DMcdomald_Employment_Agreement 7-1-21 to 6-30-23 FINAL approved 12-2-21
	Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
	And
	WITNESSETH
	Section 1: Duties
	Section 2: Term
	Section 3: Salary
	Section 4: Performance Evaluation
	Section 5: Management Benefits
	Section 6: Professional Development
	Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay
	Section 8: Notices
	Section 9: General Provisions

	7_LGVSD_Greg Pease 07 01 2021 to 06 30 2023 FINAL approved 12-2-21
	8_LGVSD_Cortez 07 01 2021 to 06 30 2023 FINAL approved 12-2-21
	9_LGVSD_Liebmann 07 01 2021 to 06 30 2023 FINAL approved 12-2-21

	3.1 Acting General Manager Report
	3.2 Dept Reports - Admin and Engineering
	4 Public Hearing Marin Sanitary Service Rate 2022
	ASR Garbage Rate 2022
	Attachment A - 2022 MSS Rate Review Report and Attachment - LGVSD 111021
	2022 MSS Rate Review Report - LGVSD 111021
	Executive Summary
	2022 Rate Adjustment Details
	Survey of Comparable Rates

	Attachment 1

	Attachment B - Ordinance 188 Garbage Rate Adjustment 2022 with Appendix A rates
	BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE


	5 Audit of Financial Statements for Yr ending June 2021
	6 Brown and Caldwell Contract Extension
	7 Approve Resolution 2021-2235 Recognizing Employees
	8 Bisolids Ad Hoc Committee
	9 Public Comment
	10 Board Reports
	10.2 Murray Other Reports
	11A Board Meeting Attend Requests
	11B Board Item Agenda Requests
	12 Various Industry Articles



